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QUESTIONS RECEIVED UNTIL 25 APRIL 2018 
 

 

Ref.:  Contract notice n° 2018/S 059-129473 

 

Until 25 April 2018, the European Parliament’s services have received the following questions 
and have responded as follows: 

 

1. Can a subcontracted expert be considered as a core project team member? 

Yes, a subcontracted expert can be considered as core project team member. See section 
8 of the “Rules of Tendering” on subcontracting.  Note in particular “The tenderers must 
provide a document for each subcontractor confirming their willingness to accept the tasks 
and giving their consent to the terms and conditions set out in the invitation to tender and 
in the annexes thereto (for example: a letter of intent, an email, a memorandum of 
understanding etc.).” 

See also section 14.1 of the "Rules of Tendering" on quality. “The composition of the core 
team and pool of experts: “the tenderer shall describe the coherence, variety and range 
of academic skills at its disposal on no more than 5 pages. The team's composition should 
enable it to deal with a wide range of potential requests falling under the respective lot. 
Contractors are therefore expected to be able to operate across the relevant academic 



 

disciplines (e.g. social sciences, economics, (EU) law, statistics, etc.) as well as providing 
varied professional experience, preferably including people from different professional 
backgrounds (e.g. industry, academia, public sector, etc.) relevant to this lot. They should 
also be able to offer a good geographical coverage of the EU. It is acknowledged that the 
range of potential requests for each lot is very broad. Therefore, tenderers should be able 
to propose a team structure in which a permanent core team would be able to cover the 
main tasks and skills while complementary and particularly specialised team members 
from a pool of experts can be recruited on a case by case basis depending on the nature 
of the requested expertise. In the case a tenderer does not hold all of the necessary 
expertise to fully cover the research requirements of the respective lot, he/she is invited 
to explore the possibilities of subcontracting or making a joint tender. In such cases, 
sections 7 and 8 of this document and Article I.15 and II.6 of the Draft framework service 
contract have to be taken into account”. 

 

2. Can the financial identification form be completed manually?  An error message 
appears when trying to open the form with excel.  

Yes, the financial identification form can be completed manually.  The European 
Parliament’s services will also investigate whether the technical issue stems from the 
European Parliament and if so, endeavour to resolve it.  

 
 

3. Do subcontractors need to sign declaration of honour? The rules of tendering 
mention that the European Parliament is entitled to reject any subcontractor who 
does not comply with the exclusion and selection criteria. However, the rules of 
tendering require only to confirm the subcontractor’s willingness to accept the 
tasks and giving their consent to the terms and conditions of invitation to tender. 

No, the subcontractors do not need to sign the declaration of honour. 

 

4. Is the scanned version of documents required from subcontractors sufficient? 

Yes, a scanned version is sufficient. 
 
 

 
5. Rules concerning the contents and presentation of the offer, Part A: General 

principles, Section 1 – The ITT states that tenderers “must comprise one signed 
original (per lot) for which you want to tender accompanied by two copies, 
presented in three separate files […]”. Could the European Parliament please clarify 
what this means exactly? Does this mean that the original and two copies of the 
Administrative Offer must be enclosed in a separate envelope, that the original and 
two copies of the Technical Offer must be enclosed in another separate envelope, 
and that the original and two copies of the Financial Offer must be enclosed in a 
third separate envelope? 
 
There must be a separate tender for each lot. Inside the two sealed envelopes there 
should be 3 files: one original signed complete file (including the Administrative, Technical 
and Financial Offer) and 2 copies of that same file.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

6. Rules concerning the contents and presentation of the offer, Part A: General 
principles, Section 2 – Related to the previous question, the ITT states that “In order 
to maintain the confidentiality and integrity of tenders, they must be sent under 
double cover”. Does this mean that each of the Administrative, Technical and 
Financial Offers must be enclosed in a separate (inner) envelope and that all three 
envelopes containing the Administrative, Technical and Financial Offers must then 
be enclosed in another (outer) envelope? 

 
The double cover (Article 2 of the Rules for the submission) refers to the fact that the 
entire tender must be placed in two envelopes. The Administrative, Technical and 
Financial Offers do not have to be in separate envelopes – they can all be in one folder 
(or booklet, binder, file, envelope etc.) and together with the two copies of the original 
enclosed in two envelopes.  
 
The purpose of the rule for two envelopes is to ensure the integrity and confidentiality of 
all offers. 
 
 
 

7. Given that there are four lots of the contract, there are inevitably various metrics to 
achieve in each given lots in order to ensure that a result is concretely and 
accurately achieved. In this context, and in respect to the lots of the tender and the 
makeup of the core team, is it necessary for each member who is potentially 
assigned to a specific lot of the tender to only remain and work in that lot of the 
tender to which they are given? 

 
Yes, it is possible for someone to be a member of the core team in more than one lot.  It 
is also possible that ".... specialised team members from a pool of experts can be recruited 
on a case by case basis depending on the nature of the requested expertise".   
 
The quality and composition of the core team and pool of experts is described in section 
14.1 of the "Rules of Tendering": 
"Composition of the core team and pool of experts: the tenderer shall describe the 
coherence, variety and range of academic skills at its disposal on no more than 5 pages. 
The team's composition should enable it to deal with a wide range of potential requests 
falling under the respective lot. Contractors are therefore expected to be able to operate 
across the relevant academic disciplines (e.g. social sciences, economics, (EU) law, 
statistics, etc.) as well as providing varied professional experience, preferably including 
people from different professional backgrounds (e.g. industry, academia, public sector, 
etc.) relevant to this lot. They should also be able to offer a good geographical coverage 
of the EU. It is acknowledged that the range of potential requests for each lot is very 
broad. Therefore, tenderers should be able to propose a team structure in which a 
permanent core team would be able to cover the main tasks and skills while 
complementary and particularly specialised team members from a pool of experts can be 
recruited on a case by case basis depending on the nature of the requested expertise. In 
the case a tenderer does not hold all of the necessary expertise to fully cover the research 
requirements of the respective lot, he/she is invited to explore the possibilities of 
subcontracting or making a joint tender. In such cases, sections 7 and 8 of this document 
and Article I.15 and II.6 of the Draft framework service contract have to be taken into 
account." 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

8. Concerning the amount of experience per member of the tender, is it possible to 
achieve the needed technical and professional capacity by combining the 
experience of the members, which is established by the European Parliament in the 
given document, in order to achieve the needed criteria? 

 
Each individual member of the core team and pool of experts must meet the minimum 
technical and professional capacity.  See section 13.4.2 of the "Rules of Tendering" on 
minimum requirements: 
 
"In respect of the contract which is the subject of this invitation to tender the European 
Parliament requires tenderers, including the persons responsible for carrying out the 
services, to have the following technical and professional capacity: 

• At least five (5) persons of the core team need to have a professional and/or 
academic experience of a minimum of three (3) years, of which at least two (2) 
years in the area covered by each lot the tenderer is applying for, obtained after 
their degree in an area of relevance for the lot tendered for; moreover, 

o to qualify as a researcher, a professional and/or academic experience of a 
minimum of three (3) years is required; 

o to qualify as a senior researcher, a professional and/or academic 
experience of a minimum of five (5) years is required. 

o to qualify as project leader, a professional and/or academic experience of 
a minimum of seven (7) years is required; 

• The successful completion of at least four (4) research contracts supporting policy 
development at international or national level as proof of previous experience; 

• A publishing record in the field of the lot tendered for; 
• Scientific/academic distinction clearly relating to research in the fields relevant for 

the lot tendered for; 
• Knowledge of the EU institutional framework and decision-making process". 

 
 

 
9. Page 3 of the Administrative Offer states the following: “Please also attach a bank 

statement clearly indicating the name of the bank account holder, BIC and IBAN or 
provide a bank stamp and signature of the bank representative”. Could the 
European Parliament please confirm whether an original statement is required, or 
whether it is possible to provide a scanned copy of the same? 

 
A scanned copy or a print-out of a bank statement is sufficient. 

 
 
10. Concerning the overall turnover, the tender requires (see Section 13.3 of the Rules 

of the submission) to provide with a Statement of overall turnover for at least the 
two most recent financial years. In accordance with the national legislation, the 
balance sheet 2017 of our organization will be approved in June 2018. Therefore at 
the moment we can only provide with an estimation for the financial year 2017. As 
a consequence, could you please confirm that our Group can refer to the annual 
turnovers resulted from the balance sheets 2015 and 2016? 

 
Yes, the Group can refer to the annual turnover in the two most recently approved balance 
sheets, i.e. 2015 and 2016.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

11. In the descriptions of topics to be covered under Lot 4, the tender mentions 
"standards". Would you be able to elaborate which types of standards and in which 
technological or regulatory areas this term refers to? 

 
Standards in this context refer in a general manner mainly to international and national 
standards (particularly national standards of EU Member States) applied usually in the 
production, usage and recycling of different energy sources. Standardization aspects of 
any industrial or technological process with a possible impact on climate change might 
also be considered. This is a non-exhaustive approach, both the technological and 
regulatory areas implied will be defined by the regulatory agenda of the ITRE Committee. 

 
 
12. The tender states that "The group of economic operators shall furnish proof of its 

legal form in the tender. E.g. an entity without legal personality but offering 
sufficient protection of the European Parliament's contractual interests (depending 
on the Member State concerned, this may be, for example, a consortium or a 
temporary association)". Could you specify what qualifies as a proof of legal form 
for a consortium? Would fulfilling this condition require a consortium agreement 
signed by all partners or would a draft agreement together with letters of intent 
signed by each partner be sufficient? 

 
A draft agreement together with letters of intent signed by each partner is sufficient. 
 
 

 
13. If a consortium is formed, can the documents required from each member of 

consortium be delivered as scanned versions? 
 

It is required to send one original of the Information Form for each of the members of the 
group. 

 
 
14. Is it correct that no specific budget has to be foreseen for travel expenses, but that 

they will be determined in each proposal based on the travel needs determined in 
the Specific Request and using the flat rate rates specified in the tender? 

 
Yes, the travel for the presentation or kick-off meeting to Brussels (or Strasbourg) is 
determined in the Specific Request and using the flat rate rates specified in the tender. 

 
 
15. Could you kindly provide a model Power of Attorney template since we could not 

immediately identify this in the currently published tender documents? 
 
The European Parliament does not provide a model Power of Attorney template. You can 
use any form or model of Power of Attorney allowed by your national legislation. 
 
 
 

16. With reference to the “Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a 
tender”, do the page limits set in the Quality section (14.1) comprise tables and 
graphs? 

 
The page limits set in section 14.1 are the number of pages allowed in total including all 
text, graphs, charts, tables etc....  
 
 
 



 

17. With reference to question number 5, when participating to more than one lot, shall 
we provide you with 2 separate envelopes containing 1 original and 2 copies each, 
FOR EACH LOT? Could you please provide me detailed information about the 
number of envelopes needed to be sent to you, together with the specification of 
the content of each envelope, all in consideration of the fact that we are submitting 
a proposal for ALL FOUR (4) LOTS? 
 
For each lot you need to provide one original offer and two copies (these 3 can each be 
in a file, binder envelope, booklet format etc.). 
It is mandatory that all 3 are enclosed in 2 envelopes to comply with the rules stipulated 
in point 2 of the "Rules for Tendering". The purpose of the two envelopes (double cover) 
is to ensure the confidentiality of your offer. 
 
For example: If you are tendering for all 4 lots. You prepare the offer for lot 1 with one 
original booklet and 2 copies, put them in an envelope, seal it, write the instructions and 
then put the envelope in a second envelope. 
The same with the other lots. Thus if you are tendering for all lots you need to send 4 
packages each in a double envelope. 
 

18. On page 18 of the document “2018-itre-fwc-02-rules-of-tendering-en” it is 
mentioned that: “to qualify as a researcher, a professional and/or academic 
experience of a minimum of three (3) years is required; to qualify as a senior 
researcher, a professional and/or academic experience of a minimum of five (5) 
years is required; to qualify as project leader, a professional and/or academic 
experience of a minimum of seven (7) years is required;” 
Does “academic experience” in all three cases include experience gained before 
graduating or does it only include post graduate academic experience (such as 
post-doc research, etc.)? 
 
In all three cases, academic experience only includes post-graduate academic 
experience (such as PhD training).  Undergraduate academic experience is not included. 
 
 

19. Under the technical and professional capacity criteria (point 5.2.4 of the form “2018-
itre-fwc-05-annex-ii-administrative-offer-en.doc”), it is mentioned that proof of 
membership in academic research networks or think-tanks or other indications for 
scientific excellence such as awards, grants for research projects and similar is 
required. What constitutes proof of grants or of membership of research networks? 
 
Any document / letter / certificate mentioning membership constitutes proof of grants or 
of membership of research networks.  A copy or a scan of the original is sufficient.   

 
 
 

20. Under the technical and professional capacity criteria (point 5.2.5 of the form “2018-
itre-fwc-05-annex-ii-administrative-offer-en.doc”), it is mentioned that proof of 
relevant articles touching on issues of the EU institutional framework, experience 
in working in an area related to EU issues, participation in conferences, courses 
etc. on matters related to the European Union is required. What constitutes proof 
of participation in conferences? Additionally, would a list of relevant articles 
produced by the consortium be sufficient or is the inclusion of the complete articles 
be required? 
 
Any document / letter / certificate mentioning participation in a conference (title of a 
publication / oral presentation constitutes proof.  A copy or a scan of the original is 
sufficient.   
 
A list of relevant articles is sufficient.  


